2003

Intermountain Sports, Inc. v. Utah Department of Transportation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This case was transferred to the Court of Appeals from the Utah Supreme Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j)(2002); the Supreme Court had jurisdiction over this case pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j)(2002), as an appeal from final judgment.

ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

A. Inverse Condemnation Claim

1. "Relevant Property" Issue: Did the trial court erroneously conclude that the relevant property for purposes of Appellant's inverse condemnation claim is "access to property," rather than Appellant's "right as to use its land for the operation of a commercial business?" (R. 147-48; 11/10/03 HearingTr. p.23, ll. 9-12, 17-20)

Standard of Review: A grant of a motion for judgment on the pleadings for failure to state a claim is reviewed as a question of law for correctness. No deference is given to the trial court. Factual allegations in the complaint and all reasonable inferences therefrom are accepted as true and are considered in a light most favorable to the Appellant. Affirmance is proper only if Appellant cannot prove any set of facts in support of its claims. Houghton v. Dept. of Health, 2002 UT 101, ¶2, 57 P.3d 1067; Colman v. Utah State Land Board, 795 P.2d 622, 624 (Utah 1990).

2. "Taking" Issue: Did the trial court erroneously conclude that Appellant did not state a "takings" claim, even though Appellant alleged two "takings" claims: (1) a "substantial interference" with the operation of its commercial enterprise which "destroyed or materially lessened its value" in excess of \$2 Million; and (2) a "substantial interference" with the

operation of its commercial enterprise, whereby Appellant's right to the "use and enjoyment" of its commercial enterprise was substantially "abridged or destroyed" in excess of \$2 Million? (R. 148-50; 11/10/03 HearingTr. p.23, ll. 12-14)

Standard of Review: Question of law reviewed for correctness. No deference to trial court. Factual allegations and all reasonable inferences accepted as true and considered in light most favorable to Appellant. Affirmance proper only if Appellant cannot prove any set of facts in support of its claims. Houghton v. Dept. of Health, 2002 UT 101, ¶2, 57 P.3d 1067; Colman v. Utah State Land Board, 795 P.2d 622, 624 (Utah 1990).

3. "Public Use" Issue: Although the trial court did not reach the issue, should this court hold for purposes of remand that UDOT's reconstruction of I-15, causing the taking of Appellant's right to use its land for operation of a commercial enterprise, was for a "public use?" (R. 150; 11/10/03 HearingTr. p. 23, ll. 21-25, p.24, l.1)

Standard of Review: Question of law reviewed for correctness. No deference to trial court. Factual allegations and all reasonable inferences accepted as true and considered in light most favorable to Appellant. Affirmance proper only if Appellant cannot prove any set of facts in support of its claims. Houghton v. Dept. of Health, 2002 UT 101, ¶2, 57 P.3d 1067; Colman v. Utah State Land Board, 795 P.2d 622, 624 (Utah 1990).

4. "Harm" Issue: Did the trial court erroneously conclude that Appellant's loss of business resulting from UDOT's closure of the 45th South offramp for about 4 years during the I-15 reconstruction--which the court characterized as a "temporary denial of access to property" which was not "permanent, continuous, or inevitably recurring"--was not

compensable harm as a matter of law? (R. 150-51; 11/10/03 HearingTr. p.20, ll. 20-23, p.24, ll. 4-6)

Standard of Review: Question of law reviewed for correctness. No deference to trial court. Factual allegations and all reasonable inferences accepted as true and considered in light most favorable to Appellant. Affirmance proper only if Appellant cannot prove any set of facts in support of its claims. Houghton v. Dept. of Health, 2002 UT 101, ¶2, 57 P.3d 1067; Colman v. Utah State Land Board, 795 P.2d 622, 624 (Utah 1990).

5. "Causation" Issue: Did the trial court erroneously conclude that UDOT's closure of the 45th South offramp for about 4 years during the I-15 reconstruction did not "cause" Appellant's harm as a matter of law? (R. 151; 11/10/03 HearingTr. p.24, ll. 4-12)

Standard of Review: Question of law reviewed for correctness. No deference to trial court. Factual allegations and all reasonable inferences accepted as true and considered in light most favorable to Appellant. Affirmance proper only if Appellant cannot prove any set of facts in support of its claims. Houghton v. Dept. of Health, 2002 UT 101, ¶2, 57 P.3d 1067; Colman v. Utah State Land Board, 795 P.2d 622, 624 (Utah 1990).

B. Uniform Operation of Laws Claim

1. Identity of "Law" Issue: Did the trial court erroneously conclude that the statutes from which UDOT draws its power to construct freeways and authorize UDOT to dictate the manner in which such construction will be performed are not "laws" applied non-uniformly by UDOT? (R. 152; 11/10/03 HearingTr. p.25, ll.3-7)

Standard of Review: Question of law reviewed for correctness. No deference to trial court. Factual allegations and all reasonable inferences accepted as true and considered in light most favorable to Appellant. Affirmance proper only if Appellant cannot prove any set of facts in support of its claims. Houghton v. Dept. of Health, 2002 UT 101, ¶2, 57 P.3d 1067; Colman v. Utah State Land Board, 795 P.2d 622, 624 (Utah 1990).

2. Identity of "class" Issue: Did the trial court erroneously conclude that Appellant's allegation that UDOT unlawfully discriminated against Appellant by arbitrarily and capriciously providing other businesses similarly situated to Appellant with accommodations not provided to Appellant did not allege membership in an identifiable class? (R. 152; 11/10/03 Hearing Tr. p.24, ll.24-25; p.25, ll.1-2)

Standard of Review: Question of law reviewed for correctness. No deference to trial court. Factual allegations and all reasonable inferences accepted as true and considered in light most favorable to Appellant. Affirmance proper only if Appellant cannot prove any set of facts in support of its claims. Houghton v. Dept. of Health, 2002 UT 101, ¶2, 57 P.3d 1067; Colman v. Utah State Land Board, 795 P.2d 622, 624 (Utah 1990).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES OF CENTRAL IMPORTANCE TO THIS APPEAL

UTAH CONST. ART. I, §22.

Private Property shall not be taken or damaged for public use without just compensation.

UTAH CONST. ART. I, §24.

All laws of a general nature shall have uniform operation.

UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 72-6-101--119, inclusive. (Addendum Exhibit 1)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the case, course of proceedings, disposition in court below

For over 15 years Appellant worked hard to develop his Recreational Vehicle (RV) sales business in order to provide for his family and enjoy the fruits of his labors. Then over a period of 4 years, from 1997 through 2001, UDOT rebuilt the I-15 freeway and effectively ran Appellant out of business. UDOT's position is that the project "require[d] the breaking of eggs," and that Appellant's loss of his livelihood is just too bad. (11/10/03 HearingTr. p.8, ll. 19-20)

This case is about whether a jury should be given the opportunity to decide whether fairness and justice demand that the approximately \$2 Million in losses suffered by Appellant as a result of the I-15 reconstruction should be borne by the people of the State as a whole, rather than being left as a burden on Appellant alone. The trial court granted UDOT's motion for judgment on the pleadings and entered final judgment dismissing Appellant's claims as a matter of law. (R. 286, Addendum Exhibit 2, p.2)

Statement of Facts

a. For over 15 years Appellant owned and operated an RV sales company on a parcel of land located at 4225 South 500 West in Murray, Utah, near the 4500 South offramp from the I-15 freeway. (R. 2-3, Addendum Exhibit 3, ¶8; 11/10/03 HearingTr. p.27, ll. 4--20)

b. For about 4 years, from July 1997 to May 2001, UDOT conducted a massive reconstruction of the I-15 freeway in order to benefit the people of Utah. (R. 5, Addendum Exhibit 3, ¶¶19-22)

c. In July 1997, UDOT closed the 4500 South offramp adjacent to Appellant's RV business as part of the I-15 reconstruction project. (R. 5, Addendum Exhibit 3, ¶19)

d. From July 1997 through December 1998--a period of 1½ years--access to Appellant's RV business was closed. (R. 5, Addendum Exhibit 3, ¶¶19-20)

e. From January 1999 through May 2001--an additional period of about 2½ years--UDOT placed periodic closures on traffic at the 4500 South Street offramp. (R. 5, Addendum Exhibit 3, ¶21)

f. Thus, from July 1997 until May 2001--a total period of nearly 4 years--UDOT effectively closed the 4500 South offramp, as well as the streets for East and West traffic adjacent to the 4500 South offramp. (R. 5, Addendum Exhibit 3, ¶22)

g. Instead of direct access off the 4500 South offramp, Appellant was left with a circuitous, 2.5-mile loop that snaked behind and around the area, thereby confusing, frustrating, and ultimately eliminating Appellant's potential customers. (R. 5-6, Addendum Exhibit 3, ¶23)

h. The net impact on Appellant from UDOT's I-15 reconstruction was that traffic flow on I-15 in the area of 4500 South Street dropped two-thirds from the traffic flow prior to such reconstruction, and the bulk of the remaining 1/3 of Appellant's potential customers ended up getting lost and never arriving at Appellant's RV business. (R. 6, Addendum Exhibit 3, ¶24)

i. As a direct result of UDOT's reconstruction of I-15, Appellant suffered losses in excess of \$2 Million. (R. 6, 9, Addendum Exhibit 3, ¶¶25, 36, 37)

j. UDOT provided other similarly situated businesses in the area with accommodations for direct access to 4500 South offramp traffic, and did not provide such accommodations to Appellant, thereby unlawfully discriminating against Appellant. (R. 6, 10, Addendum Exhibit 3, ¶¶26, 39, 40)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

For over 15 years Appellant worked hard to develop his Recreational Vehicle (RV) business in order to provide for his family and enjoy the fruits of his labors. Then over a period of 4 years, from 1997 through 2001, UDOT rebuilt the I-15 freeway and effectively ran Appellant out of business. UDOT's position is that the project "require[d] the breaking of eggs," and that Appellant's loss of his livelihood is just too bad. (11/10/03 HearingTr. p.8, ll. 19-20)

This case is about whether a jury should be given the opportunity to decide whether fairness and justice demand that the approximately \$2 Million in losses suffered by Appellant as a result of the I-15 reconstruction should be borne by the people of the State as a whole, rather than being left as a burden on Appellant alone. Appellant is not seeking a windfall or to raid the public treasury. As is well established in the analogous area of city and county improvement districts, the jury may offset any special benefits conferred on Appellant from the special harm suffered by Appellant as a result of the I-15 reconstruction.

Appellant asserts two constitutional claims against UDOT: Inverse Condemnation and Uniform Operation of Laws. On its Inverse Condemnation claim, Appellant makes 6 contentions: (1) The relevant property is Appellant's "right to use its land for the operation

of a commercial business," not physical "access to property" as the trial court held. (2) Appellant properly stated two types of "takings," by alleging a "substantial interference" with the operation of its commercial enterprise which "destroyed or materially lessened its value" in excess of \$2 Million, and by alleging a "substantial interference" with the operation of its commercial enterprise whereby Appellant's right to "use and enjoyment" of its commercial enterprise was substantially "abridged or destroyed" in excess of \$2 Million. (3) UDOT's reconstruction of I-15 caused a taking for a "public use" of Appellant's right to use its land for operation of a commercial enterprise. (4) Appellant's loss of business resulting from UDOT's closure of the 45th South offramp for about 4 years during the I-15 reconstruction was legally cognizable "harm" which, if a jury so determines, is compensable. (5) UDOT's closure of the 45th South offramp for about 4 years during the I-15 reconstruction "caused" Appellant's harm which, if a jury so determines, renders UDOT liable for the resulting harm. (6) A jury may offset any special benefits Appellant derived from the reconstruction project.

On its Uniform Operation of Laws claim, Appellant makes 2 contentions: (1) The statutes from which UDOT draws its power to construct freeways and authorize UDOT to dictate the manner in which such construction will be performed are "laws" which were applied non-uniformly by UDOT, violating Appellant's right to Uniform Operation of Laws. (2) Appellant's allegation that UDOT unlawfully discriminated against Appellant by arbitrarily and capriciously providing other businesses similarly situated to Appellant with accommodations not provided to Appellant sufficiently alleges membership in an identifiable class for purposes of Appellant's Uniform Operation of Laws claim.

ARGUMENT

I. INVERSE CONDEMNATION CLAIM:

UDOT INVERSELY CONDEMNED APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO USE ITS LAND FOR THE OPERATION OF A COMMERCIAL BUSINESS

Introduction

The Just Compensation Clause of the Utah Constitution provides: "Private property shall not be taken or damaged for public use without just compensation." UTAH CONST. art. I, Sec. 22. Samuel R. Thurman, who introduced the Clause at the 1895 Constitutional Convention, set out most eloquently its importance in protecting private property from governmental harm:

"I believe that the right of property is a sacred right, and no matter if it is the widow's mite, I believe that the man who owns just one little ewe lamb has just as much right to that as the man has to his cattle that graze on a thousand hills... ."

....

[G]entlemen, this is a serious question we are dealing with. There is nothing more sacred than the right of property, unless it be the right to live and enjoy your liberty."

Proceedings and Debates of the Constitutional Convention, 336-37, 625-26 (1898)(Addendum Exhibit 4); see also id., 333 ("I don't believe there is a question to come up before this Convention that will be of greater importance to it than the one that is being discussed right now.")(William F. James).

The Just Compensation Clause protects against two general types of "condemnations:"

(1) "Direct condemnation," as when a private home that lies in the path of a proposed freeway is purchased "directly" by UDOT. There is no question that (A) "private property" (the home), (B) a "taking" (expropriation of the home), and (C) a "public use" (freeway), are

all present. In that setting, UDOT clearly is required to initiate a direct condemnation proceeding and pay fair market value to the owner. UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 78-34-1--78-34-20.

(2) "Inverse condemnation," in contrast, occurs when private property is taken or damaged for public use *without* initiation of direct condemnation proceedings by the governmental entity doing the "taking or damaging." Thus, if UDOT were to build a freeway mistakenly believing it already had title to land which was actually owned by a private party, the owner could bring an *inverse condemnation* action to require UDOT to pay just compensation. Such an owner would be required to allege and prove: (A) a property interest, (B) had been taken or damaged (C) for public use. Farmers New World Life Insurance Co. v. Bountiful City, 803 P.2d 1241, 1243-44 (Utah 1990); for discussion of takings analysis, see 3 Sands, Libonati & Martinez, LOCAL GOVERNMENT LAW, §§ 16.53.10--16.53.50; Martinez & Libonati, STATE AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT LAW, A Transactional Approach 312-39 (2000).

Inverse condemnation law in Utah has followed a tortuous path. The Utah Supreme Court initially held a claim could be brought directly under the Just Compensation Clause without implementing legislation. Webber v. Salt Lake City, 40 Utah 221, 224, 120 P. 503, 504 (1911). The court later reversed itself, holding no such claim could be brought. Fairclough v. Salt Lake County, 10 Utah 2d 417, 354 P.2d 105 (1960). Then in 1990, the Court reversed itself again, holding such a claim can be brought. Colman v. Utah State Land Board, 795 P.2d 622, 630-34 (Utah 1990). Accordingly, constant resort to first principles is indispensable to keeping one's bearings in the field.

The foundational principle of inverse condemnation law is that "The tendency under our system is too often to sacrifice the individual to the community." Stockdale v. Rio Grande Western Ry. Co., 28 Utah 201, 203, 77 P. 849, 852 (1904). Like the analogous federal provision in the Fifth Amendment, the Utah Just Compensation Clause "was designed to bar Government from forcing some people alone to bear public burdens which, in all fairness and justice, should be borne by the public as a whole." U.S. CONST. AMEND. V; Armstrong v. United States, 364 U.S. 40, 49 (1960).

Appellant has the right under the Utah Constitution to have a jury decide whether fairness and justice require that the costs Appellant suffered as a direct result of the I-15 reconstruction should be borne by the public, and not shouldered by Appellant alone.

A. The relevant property is Appellant's "right to use its land for the operation of a commercial business," not physical "access to property"

The trial court characterized Appellant's property as "convenient access to the freeway". (R. 291, Addendum Exhibit 2, p.7, ¶17.) The trial court thereby misconceived the relevant property as physical access, rather than the legal right to use land.

1. "Property" in the legal sense means legal *rights*

"The word "property" although in common parlance applied to a tract of land or a chattel, to a physical thing, means in its legal signification only the *rights* of the owner in relation to it. Property is the right of any person to possess, use, enjoy and dispose of a thing. The term "property" is often used to indicate the *res*, or subject of the property rather than the property itself. "

McGrew v. Industrial Commission, 96 Utah 203, 204, 85 P.2d 608, 610 (1938). See also Colman 795 P.2d at 625 ("some protectible interest").

The types of rights protected under Article I Section 22 are "practically unlimited." Farmers New World Life Insurance Co. v. Bountiful City, 803 P.2d at 1244, quoting Lund v. Salt Lake County, 58 Utah 546, 200 P. 510, 512 (1921). Inverse condemnation protects "every species of property . . . including legal and equitable rights of every description." Bagford v. Ephraim City, 904 P.2d 1095, 1098 (Utah 1995).

2. The right to use land is a distinct protected right

Appellant alleges it owns an RV sales company on a parcel of land located at 4225 South 500 West in Murray, Utah. (R. 2-3, Addendum Exhibit 3, ¶¶3, 8) The *right to use* land is a distinct and separate component in the bundle of rights we call "ownership." U.S. v. District Court, 121 Utah 18, 29, 242 P.2d 774, 779 (1952)(Wolfe, C.J., concurring in denial of petition for rehearing); see also Provo City Corp. v. Knudsen, 558 P.2d 1332, 1334 (Utah 1977)(right to use land affected by overflight easement on adjacent land must be "dealt with separately" and is separately compensable); Monetaire Mining Co. v. Columbus Rexall Consol. Mines Co., 53 Utah 413, 174 P. 172 (1918)(right to use a tunnel).

The drafters of the Utah Constitution clearly understood the significance of protecting the right to use land, and fully intended the Just Compensation Clause to cover it. See Proceedings and Debates of the Constitutional Convention, 326-27 (1898)(protection extends to circumstances "where an elevated road was erected upon a street and while it did not touch the property of the abutting owner, did not destroy a brick, did not take a foot of his ground, it did affect his use and occupation of his premises very disastrously.")(Charles S. Varian)(Addendum Exhibit 4); see also id., 328 ("I believe ... that when the public use a

man's property or make an improvement that virtually destroys the use of that property, that they should pay for it as much as if the property itself were taken.")(Franklin S. Richards).

This court also has recognized the critical distinction between physical access and the *right* to use land. In Carpet Barn v. State, 786 P.2d 770 (Utah Ct App 1990), UDOT had tried unsuccessfully to buy a strip of land along the frontage of Carpet Barn's land in order to widen Redwood Road. Carpet Barn refused to sell, so UDOT widened the road without buying the strip of land. UDOT built a retaining wall which ranged from sixteen inches to two feet high, topped by a four-foot chain link fence, across the front of Carpet Barn's land. The finished project limited Carpet Barn's access to a twenty-foot wide driveway running from Redwood Road to the rear of Carpet Barn's facility, even though the minimum requirement for such driveways was twenty-five feet. The wall built by UDOT also prevented parking in front of the building, eliminating fifteen to twenty diagonal parking spaces. Finally, the footings built by UDOT encroached six inches onto Carpet Barn's land. This court held that "the State's construction of the wall extending along the legal right-of-way line deprived [Carpet Barn of its] long-standing right to utilize part of [its] property for store-front parking, thus entitling [it] to compensation for any decrease in value caused by the loss of parking spaces." Carpet Barn v. State, 786 P.2d at 774 (emphasis added).

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