2003

# Intermountain Sports, Inc., a Utah Corporation v. Utah Department of Transportation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A complaint must state a claim for relief. If it does not, the Court may, on proper motion under Utah R. Civ P. 12(c), dismiss for “failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.” Intermountain’s Complaint fails to assert a legally adequate claim.

Intermountain’s Complaint based its inverse condemnation cause of action on the assertion that it and its customers hold an “easement of access” over I-15, its off-ramps, and 4500 South to get to 500 West and thereby travel to plaintiff’s premises to conduct business. (Complaint ¶¶ 30-37, Addendum exhibit 1, R. 7-9.) Utah law recognizes no such “easement of access” and therefore the trial court was correct to dismiss the cause of action.

Intermountain’s complaint alleges UDOT violated article I, § 24 of Utah’s Constitution<sup>1</sup> by providing “other businesses with direct and beneficial access to 4500 South Street” and “configuring such access so as to direct traffic flow to those businesses.” (Complaint ¶¶ 38-40, Addendum exhibit 1, R. 9, 10.) In stating its complaint thus, Intermountain fails to state a legal cause of action. Other than a taking, Utah does not recognize a stand alone cause of action for a constitutional violation.

Even if there were such a direct constitutional cause of action, plaintiff has not

---

<sup>1</sup> Art I, § 24 [**Uniform operation of laws.**] All laws of a general nature shall have uniform operation.

demonstrated that, the required elements of the Spackman test have been met as a prerequisite to any recovery of damages for a constitutional violation. Spackman v. Bd. of Educ. of the Box Elder Sch. Dist., 2000 UT 87, 16 P.3d 533.

The Complaint does not state a cause of action for a constitutional cause of action for the denial of the uniform application of laws. Plaintiff now points to the Transportation Code, Title 72, of the Utah Code, as a basis for a cause of action, (Br. of App. At 8, 27) however, Title 72 creates no private cause of action and no such cause of action was pleaded in the complaint.

The State and UDOT takes its responsibilities to private property owners very seriously. UDOT is responsible to both the legislature and certainly to the courts for its actions. States Counsel was correctly quoted in Intermountain's brief, to argue to the trial court, that UDOT knew this project would "break some eggs" but the brief fails to include that it was also argued that "UDOT has never been shy about buying those eggs that it is responsible for breaking." The purpose of the vast body of Utah law is to instruct UDOT on what eggs it must buy. Intermountain now wants this Court to take a quantum leap into the legislative arena to greatly increase those eggs.

As Justice Holmes observed in the leading case Pennsylvania Coal Co. v. Mahon, 260 U.S. 393, 43 S.Ct. 158, (1922):

Government hardly could go on if to some extent values incident to property could not be diminished without paying for every such change in the general law.

Id. at 413.

Holmes went on to caution that in establishing where the limits fall:

The greatest weight is given to the judgment of the legislature but it is always open to interested parties to contend that the legislature has gone beyond its constitutional power.

Id. at 413.

The legislature must be able to establish budgets for state projects. UDOT must be able to reasonably plan the costs of its projects. Predictability of what eggs it must buy is important. In doing so, it must be able to rely of the years of decisions of Utah courts to calculate and follow the law in determining which eggs it buys and which it does not. Intermountain, on the other hand, asks this court to greatly expand the properties UDOT must buy. In doing so, however, Intermountain fails to answer some important questions regarding this expansion of the law. How close must a business be to be paid under Plaintiff's theory? Should the State pay such impact awards to businesses within a quarter mile radius of an interchange? Should the circle be a half mile, one mile, five miles, ten miles? Should the State give an inconvenience payment to all citizens in the Wasatch Front? How much? Intermountain is asking two million dollars. Any such payments may violate the constraints on spending of highway funds of article XIII, § 5(6) of the Utah Constitution.<sup>2</sup> Intermountain's premises have never had direct access to 4500 South Street (Complaint ¶ 8, addendum exhibit , R. 2, and addendum exhibit 2, aerial photo map, R. 9) and the I-15 project never interfered with

---

<sup>2</sup> Restricts fuel tax spending to highway purposes including right of way taken or damaged.

the access traveling on 500 West from the Intermountain premises to 4500 South. (R. 9-10.) The body of Utah law is clear - if the state takes or damages a protected property right for a public purpose, it must pay. Intermountain asks for more. In 1904 the Utah Court, in addressing a railroad construction project stated:

We do not wish to be understood as holding that every inconvenience that an individual may be subjected to in the possession and enjoyment of his property because of the construction and operation of a railroad or other public utility in the vicinity of his premises entitles him to damages or injunctive relief. The rule is well settled that no recovery can be had for losses and inconveniences which are suffered in common with the general public. .

Stockdale v. Rio Grande Western Railway, 77 P. 849, (Utah 1904), at 852

## **ARGUMENT**

### **Inverse Condemnation**

To prove a taking under Utah law a plaintiff must establish two elements:

1. The claimant must demonstrate some protectable interest in property.
2. The claimant must then show that the interest has been taken or damaged by government action.

See Strawberry Electric Serv. Dist. v. Spanish Fork City, 918 P.2d 870, 877, (Utah 1996), and View Condominium v. MSICO, 2004 UT App 104 ¶ 35.

Intermountain's inverse condemnation is based, according to its complaint, on its claim that it and its potential customers hold an "easement of access." Intermountain claims that UDOT blocked or interfered with that "easement of access by

closing the 4500 South on and off ramps from I-15 for demolition and reconstruction. (Complaint ¶¶ 32, 33, and 34, Addendum exhibit 1, R. 7-9.)

No “easement of access” as alleged in Intermountain’s complaint is recognized by Utah law. An easement is a property interest. Individuals do not hold a property interest in public lands. The easement assumed by Intermountain must be based on a prescriptive right of easement for access. This can be based either on an easement of necessity or on a pattern of adverse use. Both are well recognized property rights, but neither are applicable to these facts. No easement of necessity has been plead or is proper because Intermountain is not “landlocked” and has full access to its land via public and private rights of way. Further, no prescriptive easement based on historic use is appropriate under these facts. It is a widely recognized principle of law that one cannot take an adverse possessory interest against a governmental entity. Sweeten v. United States, 684 F.2d 679 (10th Cir. 1982). This principle has been statutorily incorporated into the Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-13. One cannot obtain an interest in a public way by adverse possession. This doctrine is also confirmed and applied to claims of prescriptive easements in Lund v. Wilcox, 97 P. 33 (Utah 1908), and Cassity v. Castago, 347 P.2d 834 (Utah 1959). In citing Lund, the Cassity court stated:

Proof that the land was owned by the government at any time during the prescriptive period is usually a sufficient defense to a claim of right by adverse use. One may not adverse the sovereign.

347 P.2d at 834.

Utah has long recognized that a change of traffic patterns is not a compensable property interest. This principle was opined by the Utah Supreme Court as far back as 1941 in the early days of modern highways. In the case of State Road Commission v. Rozzelle, 101 Utah 464, 120 P.2d 276 (Utah 1941), Justices Wolfe and McDonough in separate concurring opinions each stated respectively: “The law does not give [Defendant] a vested right in the business which travel along a public highway may have afforded them” and “diminution in value of the realty caused by the loss of the flow of traffic to or past defendant’s place of business is not compensable.” Id. at 277.

In 1968 the Utah Supreme Court again picked up this theme in the case of Hampton v. State Road Comm’n, 445 P.2d 708 (Utah 1968), where the court, in holding that the State has police power to place reasonable restrictions on access points went on to state:

Nor does the right of ingress or egress to or from one’s property include any right in and to existing public traffic on the highway, or any right to have such traffic pass by one’s abutting property. The reason is that all traffic on public highways is controlled by the police power of the State, and what the police power may give an abutting property owner in the way of traffic on the highway it may take away, and by any such diversion of traffic the State and any of its agencies are not liable for any decrease of property values by reason of such diversion of traffic. . . .

Id. at 771. Emphasis added.

Utah also recognizes an access right referred to as an “easement appurtenant.” In 1974 the Utah Supreme Court issued its leading opinion on appurtenant rights in Utah State Road Comm’n v. Miya, 526 P.2d 926 (Utah 1974). In holding that



the rights of access, light, and air are easements appurtenant to the land of an abutting owner or a street; that constitute property rights forming part of the owner's estate. These substantial property rights, although subject to reasonable regulation, may not be taken away or impaired without just compensation.

Id. at 928, 929.

The Miya court was equally clear in proclaiming the principle that:

A property owner has no property right to a free and unrestricted flow of traffic past his premises, and any impairment or interference with this flow does not entitle the owner to compensation.

Id. at 928.

As recently as November 2002 the Utah Supreme Court affirmed the principle that the protected appurtenant access right does not create an unlimited claim to access and traffic movements in Utah Department of Transportation v. Harvey Real Estate, 2002 Ut 107 at ¶ 14, 57 P.3d. 1088 :

This right doesn't include the right to travel in any particular direction from one's property or upon any particular part of the public highway right of way. Nor does the right of ingress or egress to or from one's property include any right in and to existing public traffic on the highway, or any right to have such traffic pass by one's abutting property. Quotations omitted.

UDOT v. Harvey 2002 UT 107, ¶ 15, 57 P.3d. 1088.

Intermountain does not enjoy an easement appurtenant because its access point is not to either I-15 or to 4500 South. Intermountain's easement appurtenant is to 500 West. (Complaint ¶ 8, addendum exhibit 1, R. 2, and addendum exhibit 2, aerial photo map. R. 314 at 9.)

It is clear from Utah law that Intermountain and its potential customers did not have an “easement of access” either by necessity, prescription, or rights appurtenant, and because its inverse condemnation claim is based on an “easement of access,” the trial court was correct in dismissing the inverse condemnation cause of action.

The brief filed herein by Intermountain’s counsel instead of defending its pleaded cause of action, presents a dissertation on the history of inverse condemnation law in Utah, and raises many new arguments and academic theories regarding inverse condemnation which were not advanced in the complaint. Intermountain’s counsel blurs the lines between an inverse taking and a regulatory taking. Appellant’s brief now argues that its protected right is a right to conduct business and enter into contracts. UDOT’s brief will not address the historical discourse but does wish to address the current state of the law in Utah in inverse condemnation and government takings both possessory and regulatory.

This Court in View Condominium v. MSICO, 2004 UT App 104, has reaffirmed the principles stated in Strawberry Electric Serv. Dist. v. Spanish Fork City, 918 P.2d 870, (Utah 1996), that the claimant must demonstrate some recognized constitutionally protected property interest.

Does Intermountain present a interest in property for the courts to protect with constitutional fervor? No. The property interest now asserted by Intermountain is the bare hope that drivers driving southbound on I-15 will see their show yard located on the west side of I-15, and on a sudden impulse will exit I-15 at 4500 South and drive

approximately 1 mile in a circular route to purchase a new motor home or travel trailer. This wishful thinking of future sales falls far short of the types of contractual property rights which the Court has described as protected in Strawberry Electric and in Bagford v. Ephriam City, 904 P.2d 1095, (Utah 1995). Bagford stated that “to create a protectable property interest, a contract must establish rights more substantial in nature than a mere unilateral expectation of continued rights or benefits.” Id. at 1099.

Referring to contracts as a property right the court stated:

A contract that is terminable at the will of either party does not by itself give rise to protectable property interest because the mere expectation of benefits under such a contract does not give the promisor a legally enforceable right against a promisee to provide future service and therefore does not by itself provide a basis for compensation for loss of future business.

Id. at 1099.

Intermountain does not present an enforceable contract right, merely the hope of future sales. A protected property right must demonstrate a more certain legal right than wishful business hopes of potential sales.

Even if Intermountain were able to present a protected property right, the second element of this test must still be established - was the interest taken or damaged by government action? Intermountain was open for business throughout the project time period using its normal and only access to its premises off of 500 West. Traffic on 500 West was not halted, blocked, or otherwise interfered with by the project. (Complaint, addendum exhibit 1, R. 1, R. 314 at 9, 27.) The construction of the I-15

project did not constitute a taking of Intermountain's protected property rights under Utah law.

Intermountain now, in the alternative, also attempts to recharacterize the property interest taken by UDOT as Intermountain's "right to use its land for the operation of a commercial business." (Brief pp. 8, 11-15.) This argument was not presented by Intermountain in its complaint and thus is not properly before the court. In any event, this Court has addressed a similar argument in its recent decision in Diamond B-Y Ranches v. Tooele County, 2004 UT App. 135. In B-Y Ranches, this Court opined that a taking occurs if:

[a] regulation denies all economically beneficial or productive use of land, or even if the property has not necessarily been deprived of all economically beneficial use; an analysis of several factors indicates that the interference is so great that a virtual taking has nonetheless occurred. Quotations omitted.

Id. at ¶ 14.

The B-Y Ranches court reversed the trial court's dismissal of the claim and remanded the case for a factual finding to determine "if the effect of denying the permit is to leave its property economically idle. . . ." Id. at ¶ 18.

Although the complaint does not present these arguments and Intermountain raises them first in its brief, the allegation must fail on its face because unlike the situation in B-Y Ranches, as the Complaint indicates, the land was not left idle but was used for commercial business operations throughout the I-15 project and is still so used to date. (R. 314 at 27).

Finally, Intermountain argues that a jury should be allowed to determine what is a compensable claim for a taking under Utah law. (Br. Of App. at 8, 11.) Juries determine questions of fact. Utah Code Ann §78-21-2 (2002). These are questions of law to be determined by the court. Utah Code Ann § 78-21-3(2002).

### Uniform Operation of Laws

The complaint identifies as the basis of Intermountain's denial of uniform operation of laws claim the alleged "arbitrarily and capriciously providing other businesses with direct and beneficial access to 4500 South Street and by configuring such access so as to direct traffic flow to those businesses, south of the Affected Property and north and west of the Affected Property, while at the same time refusing to offer such accommodations to Plaintiff who paid substantial taxes. . . ." (Complaint ¶¶ 39 and 40. Addendum exhibit 1, R. 9, 10.)

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